IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 3 3 4	DONALD LEE TAYLOR, Supreme Court Case No. 65388 Appellant, Dist. Ct. Case No. C-11-270343-1 vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.
9	
0	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF
11	
12	
13	
14	Craig W. Drummond, Esq.
15 16	Drummond Law Firm, P.C.
16 17	Nevada Bar No. 011109 228 S. Fourth St., First Floor
17 18	Las Vegas, NV 89101
10 19	T: (702) 366-9966
20	F: (702) 508-9440 craig@drummondfirm.com
21	Attorney for Appellant
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Nevada Revised Statute § 177.015(3) provides, that a Defendant may appeal a final judgment or verdict in a criminal case. The Judgment of Conviction in this matter was entered on March 7, 2014 and a Notice of Appeal filed on April 4, 2014. Further, pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(5), this appeal is being filed within thirty (30) days of the Judgment of Conviction. Thus, jurisdiction is proper in this Court.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the show-up of Mr. Taylor was unnecessarily suggestive, resulting in unreliable out-of-court and in-court identifications that violated his constitutional right to due process of law;
- II. Whether Mr. Taylor's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial and Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination were violated when the State used an inflammatory Powerpoint slide declaring him guilty and made inappropriate comments in closing arguments that a reasonable juror would interpret only to mean that Mr. Taylor was guilty;
- III. Whether the warrantless access and use of hundreds of data points showing Mr. Taylor's historical cell phone location over a week long period was a search that violated Mr. Taylor's Fourth Amendment rights;
- IV. Whether there was sufficient, properly admitted evidence at trial to support the jury's finding of guilt; and
- V. Whether the accumulated persistent and pervasive errors so tainted Mr. Taylor's trial to deprive him of his Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 14, 2011, a Clark County grand jury indicted Mr. Taylor on several charges – Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm (NRS 205.060) ("Count 1"), Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (NRS 200.380) ("Count 2"), Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.380) ("Count 3"), and Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.030) ("Count 4"). The State charged Mr. Taylor with all 4 counts on November 18, 2010. Mr. Taylor pled not guilty to all counts during his January 28, 2011 arraignment in the Clark County District Court. The case went to trial and on February 27, 2013, the jury convicted Mr. Taylor on all 4 counts. Mr. Taylor moved for a new trial due to various prosecutorial errors that violated his constitutional rights, which was denied on April 8, 2013. A Judgment of Conviction was issued on March 7, 2014. (AA VOL 7 01501-01503) Mr. Taylor filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court on April 4, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Robbery-Murder

At Mr. Taylor's trial, the State's primary eyewitness was one Angela Chenault ("Chenault"). (AA VOL 5 01230, AA VOL 6 01270). Chenault was the mother of the victim Michael Pearson's ("Pearson") girlfriend, Tyniah Haddon ("Haddon"). (AA VOL 3 00648-00649). Chenault testified to the circumstances surrounding the crimes with which Mr. Taylor was charged. On November 18, 2010, Pearson brought Haddon's son, Chenault's grandson, to Chenault's apartment, as she typically watched him while Pearson went to his job on night shift and Haddon finished her day job. (AA VOL 3 00649). Pearson arrived at the apartment earlier than normal. AA VOL 3 00650). Pearson informed her that he had two acquaintances meeting him there before retrieving a large black bag of marijuana from outside the apartment that he then placed on top of Chenault's refrigerator. (AA VOL 3 00651-00653).

Chenault testified that she had recently returned from a trip to Michigan to bury her grandmother and that her great aunt had recently died. (AA VOL 3 00651). When Pearson arrived at her apartment, Chenault was busy frying chicken for herself and her children. (AA VOL 3 00651, 00657, 00660, 00664) In the meantime, Pearson began talking on his phone and he soon went outside. (AA VOL 3 00655-00656) When he returned and knocked to reenter the apartment, Chenault turned the doorknob to open the door and then immediately returned to her frying chicken. (AA VOL 3 00656, 00664). Pearson re-entered the apartment with two other men. (AA VOL 3 00656). Chenault had never met either of these men before and neither introduced himself to her. (AA VOL 3 00657, 00663).

The three men entered the apartment and one of them began looking around to determine who was there. (AA VOL 3 00657). Chenault claimed that when this man tried to go into her bedroom, where her grandson was watching television, she stood between him and the doorway to prevent his entry. (AA VOL 3 00658). Chenault stated that she stood face-to-face with this perpetrator only momentarily. (AA VOL 3 00658). This was Chenault's only face-to-face encounter with either perpetrator, as the rest of the time she had her back to the drug deal occurring behind her. (AA VOL 3 00651, 00660, 00664). Chenault stated that, as a general matter, she got "no good look" at the perpetrators. (AA VOL 3 00703).

At this point, Pearson had removed the marijuana from atop the refrigerator and placed it on the kitchen table. (AA VOL 3 00660-00661). Pearson asked for money from the two men in exchange for the drugs, garnering the response that the men were "taking" the drugs. (AA VOL 3 00665). Chenault testified that Mr. Taylor then began "shaking down" Pearson. (AA VOL 3 00667). Pearson reached to his right side where he had stowed a gun. (AA VOL 3 00659) Shots were then fired. (AA VOL 3 00670). When Chenault turned around, she found Pearson had

 been shot and the two men had absconded with the drugs. (AA VOL 3 00670-00671).

B. The Las Vegas Police Department ("LVPD") Investigation and Arrest of Mr. Taylor

Detective Martin Wildemann ("Wildemann") of the LVPD was the detective assigned to interview the witnesses. (AA VOL 5 01049). He interviewed Chenault at her apartment. 3 RT 200. Wildemann also interviewed Haddon. (AA VOL 5 01067). Haddon gave further details on the drug deal, telling Wildemann that an acquaintance she knew by the name of 'D' had arranged to buy a large amount of marijuana from Pearson. (AA VOL 5 01067). Wildemann obtained Pearson's cell phone number from Haddon and subsequently accessed Pearson's cell phone records with help from the Federal Bureau of Investigation. (AA VOL 5 01067). These records included the cell phone numbers that Pearson had contacted just before his death. (AA VOL 5 01067). From these records Wildemann was able to identify Mr. Taylor's cell phone number, leading him to the name and address of Jennifer Archer ("Archer"), Mr. Taylor's girlfriend. (AA VOL 5 01069). He was also able to identify Archer's vehicle. (AA VOL 5 01069).

Wildemann had surveillance placed on Archer's residence. (AA VOL 5 01069). Archer then "made" the surveillance and left her home. (AA VOL 5 01072). Wildemann began looking for her in the immediate vicinity and finally located her pulling into a bar. (AA VOL 5 01072). Archer entered the bar and surfaced a few minutes later with Mr. Taylor. (AA VOL 5 01073). The two left and Wildemann followed, requesting a patrol car to stop them in a shopping plaza parking lot. (AA VOL 5 01074-01075). The two exited the car and Mr. Taylor was placed into custody. (AA VOL 5 01075). Wildemann then asked him if he had a phone, to which Mr. Taylor responded in the affirmative. (AA VOL 5 01076). Detective Wildemann retrieved the phone from Mr. Taylor and Mr.

Taylor provided the phone number. (AA VOL 5 01076). Wildemann called the number to confirm it was the phone he retrieved from Mr. Taylor. (AA VOL 5 01077)

C. The Show-Up and Subsequent Identifications of Mr. Taylor

Wildemann, with Mr. Taylor still in custody in the parking lot, phoned Chenault around 11:45 P.M, more than eight hours after the crime had occurred. (AA VOL 3 00673-00674; AA VOL 4 00759-00760). Chenault met Wildemann nearby and he had her get into his car. (AA VOL 4 00760). He then drove her to where Mr. Taylor was being detained, in the middle of a shopping plaza, telling her "they had him over here." (VOL 3 00707); AA VOL 5 01078). It was "pitch black" outside and spotlights were placed on Mr. Taylor. (AA VOL 5 01078). When they arrived, Chenault was quiet. (AA VOL 5 01079). Chenault observed Mr. Taylor from the backseat of Wildemann's car, several yards from where Mr. Taylor was being detained. (AA VOL 5 01078-01079). She then asked to pull closer and Wildemann complied. (AA VOL 5 01079-01080). Chenault's first response to seeing Mr. Taylor was that she did not believe him to be one of the men in her apartment. (AA VOL 5 01080).

Once he returned Chenault to her family, Wildemann went to the police station and obtained a picture of Mr. Taylor. (AA VOL 5 01081). He texted that picture to Haddon and asked if that was the person she knew as 'D.' (AA VOL 5 01081). Haddon confirmed that Mr. Taylor was 'D.' (AA VOL 5 01080). Haddon texted Wildemann a few hours later, telling him that she had shown the photo to Chenault and Chenault had positively identified Mr. Taylor as one of the perpetrators. (AA VOL 5 01083-01084). This was the only point at which Chenault in any way definitively identified Mr. Taylor as one of the perpetrators. (AA VOL 3 00677; AA VOL 5 01083-01084). Chenault also made an in-court identification of Mr. Taylor during his trial. (AA VOL 3 00659-00600).

D. The State's Subpoena of Mr. Taylor's Historical Cell Phone Location Data

The State also accessed Mr. Taylor's phone records by obtaining a subpoena under the Stored Communications Act.¹ (AA VOL 5 01086) ["Hearing on All Remaining Motions to Suppress"] These records - at least eighteen Excel spreadsheet pages - included the numbers to which Mr. Taylor placed calls or from which he received calls for a weeklong period leading up to Pearson's murder. (AA VOL 7 01514-01567) [State's Exhibit 114B-D] They also disclosed the locations of each and every cell phone tower to which Mr. Taylor's phone had connected across the Las Vegas area. (AA VOL 7 01514-01567) [State's Exhibit 114B-D] The State was able to determine Mr. Taylor's location throughout the Las Vegas area on the day of the murder, including several private residences. (AA VOL 7 01504-01513) [State's Exhibits 1-5] Mr. Taylor's cell phone records were admitted as substantive evidence at trial over Mr. Taylor's objection. (AA VOL 3 00743-00744)

E. The State's Closing Arguments

During closing arguments, the prosecution utilized a Powerpoint presentation. (AA VOL 7 01565-01573) [Court's Exhibit 51] One of the slides in that presentation contained a booking photograph of Mr. Taylor. *Ibid.* Across this picture, the State placed the phrases "It's all bad," a statement Mr. Taylor purportedly texted to his girlfriend after the crime, and "GUILTY." *Ibid.* Additionally, both prosecutors commented on Mr. Taylor's guilt in closing. With regard to the cell phone evidence, Ms. Christensen stated that "[t]he defense

¹ 18 U.S.C. § 2703(d) allows disclosure of private communications data via subpoena "if the governmental entity offers specific and articulable facts showing that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the contents of a wire or electronic communication, or the records or other information sought, are relevant and material to an ongoing criminal investigation."

suggests that it's not his phone...I would submit to you because the person using that phone is guilty of the crimes charged in this case. So he's got to distance himself from that phone. But the evidence is overwhelming. He can't." (AA VOL 5 01217). Mr. DiGiacomo stated in rebuttal that "[t]here has to be a rational explanation for the evidence. And I challenge you to find it. . . . I challenge you to come up with a reasonable explanation of the truth if it does not involve the guilt of Donald Lee Taylor," that the jury had "a duty to find the truth," and that "there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed Michael [Pearson]." (AA VOL 6 01272). He ended by admonishing the jury that if "you're doing your job...you'll come back here and tell that person [Mr. Taylor] you know [who killed Pearson], too." (AA VOL 6 01272). These statements were made just before the jury entered their deliberations.

Notably, there was little properly admitted substantive evidence of Mr. Taylor's guilt. The one set of fingerprints found at the scene was not matched to Mr. Taylor, as such was potentially exculpatory. (AA VOL 5 01018-01019). No gunshot residue was found on Mr. Taylor, as he was never tested for it. (AA VOL 5 01187). The marijuana Mr. Taylor allegedly stole was never found. (AA VOL 5 01189, 01191). The murder weapon was likewise never recovered. (AA VOL 5 01192). Nevertheless, the jury still convicted Mr. Taylor on all four charged counts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Identification procedures utilized in the course of criminal investigations can deprive criminal defendants of their right to due process of law where they are unnecessarily suggestive. Certain procedures are, as a general matter, unnecessarily suggestive, such as a one-on-one show-up. Mr. Taylor's due process rights were violated when the LVPD conducted an unnecessarily suggestive show-up that was not justified by any exigent circumstances. Moreover, this

identification cannot be saved from funning afoul of the Constitution because it was unreliable, even independent of the suggestive procedure. Chenault had little time to view the perpetrators in her home, was inattentive and distracted at the time of the crime, and could not definitively identify Mr. Taylor as one of the perpetrators until <u>after</u> her daughter showed her a picture of Mr. Taylor. Furthermore, these same factors indicate Chenault's in-court identification of Mr. Taylor was likewise unreliable. Therefore, all identification evidence should have been excluded at trial and the failure to do so violated Mr. Taylor's fundamental right to due process of law.

Mr. Taylor's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial was also violated when the prosecution utilized a Powerpoint slide containing his booking photo with the words "GUILTY" across the picture during closing arguments. This slide communicated the prosecution's personal belief in Mr. Taylor's guilt, a statement that would be impermissible to make orally and is therefore impermissible to make via trial aids. Additionally, both prosecutors made indirect comments that a reasonable juror would only interpret as being a personal belief that Mr. Taylor was guilty. These comments further violated Mr. Taylor's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial. Lastly, Mr. DiGiacomo, one of the prosecutors, impermissibly commented on Mr. Taylor's failure to take the stand, violating his Fifth Amendment rights. Therefore, Mr. Taylor's convictions should be reversed.

The State also introduced Mr. Taylor's historical cell phone location data as substantive evidence to show Mr. Taylor was at the scene of the crime, which was admitted over objection. These records contained hundreds of location points over a weeklong period. They also allowed the police to determine Mr. Taylor was at several private residences across the Las Vegas area. The quantity and private nature of this data shows that the State's access and use of that data was a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Because the State did not have a

warrant for this data, it violated Mr. Taylor's Fourth Amendment rights and the cell phone location data should have been excluded at trial.

From the foregoing, it is clear that many pieces of evidence were improperly admitted against Mr. Taylor at trial. This evidence included eyewitness testimony as to the identification of Mr. Taylor as one of the perpetrators and evidence tending to establish that Mr. Taylor was at the scene of the crime. Considering the evidence that was *properly* before the jury, then, no reasonable juror could have found the elements of each crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt. There was essentially no properly admitted evidence establishing Mr. Taylor's identity as one of the perpetrators, in the absence of the identification and cell phone data. Moreover, the accumulation of the foregoing errors irreparably tainted Mr. Taylor's trial and stacked the deck against him. Such accumulation violated his fundamental Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial. Therefore, Mr. Taylor's convictions should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SHOW-UP OF MR. TAYLOR WAS UNNECESSARILY SUGGESTIVE, RESULTING IN UNRELIABLE AND TAINTED OUT-OF-COURT AND IN-COURT IDENTIFICATIONS THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED AT TRIAL.

The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees that no state shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." U.S. Const. amend XIV. The United States Supreme Court has expressly recognized that the Due Process Clause protects criminal suspects against unnecessarily suggestive pre-trial identification procedures, where those procedures irreversibly taint a subsequent trial with the risk of mistaken identification. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 301-302 (1967). This Court has fully adopted the Stovall standard for pre-trial identification challenges. See Jones v. State, 95 Nev. 613, 617 (1979). A court reviewing a challenge to the

constitutionality of a pre-trial identification procedure considers: "(1) whether the procedure is unnecessarily suggestive, and (2) if so, whether, under all the circumstances, the identification is [nevertheless] reliable." *Bias v. State*, 105 Nev. 869, 871 (1989). The show-up utilized by the LVPD in this case was impermissibly suggestive and produced a totally unreliable identification that violated Mr. Taylor's fundamental right to due process of law.

- A. The LVPD conducted an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure when they brought Chenault to a one-on-one show-up where only Mr. Taylor was detained in front of a police car, and no exigency existed.
 - 1. The LVPD conducted a show-up between Mr. Taylor and the witness, an impermissibly suggestive identification technique that violated Mr. Taylor's right to due process of law.

The Nevada Supreme court has adopted the *Stovall* test for suggestiveness, "[c]onsidering [whether, in] the totality of the circumstances, the confrontation conducted...was so unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification that [appellant] was denied due process of law." *Bias*, 105 Nev. at 871 (internal citations omitted). Certain identification techniques have been categorized as inherently suspect and suggestive. *See*, *e.g.*, *Jones*, *supra* (finding an on-the-scene show-up identification to be inherently suspect).

This Court has held, absent exigent circumstances, that a show-up (or a one-on-one confrontation) between a witness and suspect is just such an inherently suggestive technique. *Jones*, *supra*, 95 Nev. at 617. This Court opined that show-ups present the suspect to the witness in such a manner that communicates to the witness that the police have their man. *Id.* In *Bias*, this Court reiterated that show-ups are inherently suggestive but may be permissible under certain circumstances where there are sufficient countervailing policy considerations at play. 105 Nev. at 872.

--

In Gehrke v. State, this Court held a show-up to be unnecessarily suggestive. 96 Nev. 581, 584 (1980). Gehrke was charged with armed robbery of a gas station. Id. at 583. The police suspected Gehrke based upon the descriptions given by witnesses and mugshots each had independently chosen. Id. Police told the witnesses they "had a suspect in mind" and escorted them to the Gehrke house. Id. Gehrke had been placed in front of a police car's headlights when the witnesses identified him as the robber. Id. The Court held that, because no countervailing policy considerations were at play, the procedure was unnecessarily suggestive. Id. at 584. Almost identical factual considerations led the Court in Bias to hold a show-up impermissibly suggestive. See Bias, 105 Nev. at 872 (finding the circumstances of the show-up to be "similar to those in [Gerhke]," warranting reversal).

The factual circumstances surrounding Mr. Taylor's pre-trial identification are highly similar to those in both *Gehrke* and *Bias*, unequivocally showing it to be impermissibly suggestive. After apprehending Mr. Taylor, Detective Wildemann phoned Chenault to tell her that they had a suspect they wanted her to identify. (AA VOL 3 00673-00674). Like the police in *Gehrke*, Detective Wildemann suggested to Chenault they had their man when he told her he thought they "had him [the perpetrator] over here." (AA VOL 3 00707). Upon arrival at the shopping plaza, he was standing outside near police cars for her to view. (AA VOL 3 00676). As in *Gehrke*, he was the only person being detained and presented to Ms. Chenault and spotlights were shone directly on him because it was dark. (AA VOL 5 01079, AA VOL 5 00147). Chenault remained in the back seat of Wildemann's squad car for the duration of the show-up. (AA VOL 5 01078). These circumstances unnecessarily indicated that Mr. Taylor was in fact the perpetrator. It is clear from these facts, essentially identical to those in *Gehrke* and *Bias*, that the show-up conducted here was therefore unnecessarily suggestive.

2. No exigent circumstances existed to justify the prompt, impermissibly suggestive show-up of Mr. Taylor and evidence of his identification should have been excluded at trial.

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