IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DONALD LEE TAYLOR.

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 16 2014 08:54 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Case No. 65388 Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction, filed March 7, 2014 **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

CRAIG W. DRUMMOND, ESQ. Drummond Law Firm, P.C. Nevada Bar #011109 228 S. Fourth St., First Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 366-9966

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

D. If Any Error Occurred by Admittance of the Identifications, Such Error Was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt or Was Not a Plain Error

Appellant claims the district court erred by admitting Chenault's in-court identification of him, as well as Chenault's identification of Appellant at the one-onone show-up, and that these errors violated his due process rights. As explained above, these issues were not preserved for appeal, and therefore receive plain error review. NRS 178.602. "In conducting plain error review, we must examine whether there was 'error,' whether the error was 'plain' or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights." <u>Sanchez-Dominguez v. State</u>, 318 P.3d 1068, 1073 (Nev. 2014) (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). The existence of plain error requires a showing of actual prejudice. <u>Green</u>, 80 P.3d at 95.

Here, for the reasons stated above, Appellant has not established that admittance of the show-up and in-court identifications were in fact error. Appellant has not demonstrated actual prejudice by the admittance of the identifications. The State presented substantial evidence of phone communications by Appellant indicating he was meeting with the victim. 5 AA 1117-1190. Further, Appellant's counsel was able to cross-examine Chenault, attacking her credibility and the strength of her identification. 3 AA 678-88, 702-11, 722-23. There was no plain error in admitting Chenault's identifications.

Appellant also claims the district court erred by admitting Chenault's photographic identification of Appellant, and that this error violated his due process rights. As explained above, this issue was preserved for appeal, and therefore receives harmless error review. NRS 178.598. To be harmless, a due process error

must be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967).

If any error occurred through admittance of this identification (a point the State does not concede), such error was harmless. Admittance of Chenault's photographic identification was cumulative, as she had already identified Appellant at the show-up. Furthermore, Appellant's counsel cross-examined Chenault and attacked her credibility. 3 AA 678-88, 702-11, 722-23. As explained above, there was substantial evidence supporting a conviction in this case, even without Chenault's identification. If any error occurred in admitting this evidence, it was harmless and does not require reversal.

Π

THE PROSECUTION'S POWERPOINT SLIDE DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS AND THE PROSECUTION DID NOT COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S DECISION NOT TO TESTIFY OR EXPRESS PERSONAL BELIEF IN APPELLANT'S GUILT

A. The Prosecution's PowerPoint slide containing the word "GUILTY" superimposed upon a picture of Appellant did not violate Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial

Appellant's counsel did not object to the PowerPoint slide at trial. Thus, this

issue has not been adequately preserved for appeal. If a defendant fails to object in

the district court, appellate review is generally precluded. Grey v. State, 124 Nev.

110, 120, 178 P.3d 154, 161 (2008) (quoting Sterling v. State, 108 Nev. 391, 394,

834 P.2d 400, 402 (1992)). When the error has not been preserved, the claim receives plain error review. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). Under that standard, the defendant must demonstrate that the error affected his or her substantial rights. <u>Id.</u>

In the instant case the prosecution's PowerPoint slide was permissible, and its use did not violate Appellant's right to a fair trial. In his brief, Appellant cites <u>Watters v. State</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 94, 313 P.3d 243 (2013) which was decided on November 27, 2013. Appellant's trial occurred in February of 2013. 2 AA 252- 6 AA 1428. Regardless, one of the primary reasons use of the photo was held to be error in <u>Watters</u> was that it "declared Watters guilty *before the first witness was called…*" <u>Watters</u>, 313 P.3d at 247 (emphasis added). Here, the photo was briefly used during the prosecution's closing, when the prosecution is permitted to ask the jury to find the defendant guilty. <u>See Allred v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 410, 419, 92 P.3d 1246, 1252–53 (2004) (upholding State's use of annotated photographs as demonstrative exhibits in closing argument).

The use of the word "GUILTY" superimposed upon Appellant's photo did not undermine the presumption of innocence. A prosecutor may not declare to a jury that a defendant is guilty. <u>Collier v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 473, 480, 705 P.2d 1126, 1130 (1985). In <u>Watters</u>, this Court emphasized that use of the photo during *opening* argument violated the defendant's rights because it "undermined the presumption of innocence." 313 P.3d at 248. However, at *closing* argument a prosecutor is permitted to argue "that the presumption of innocence has been overcome." <u>Morales v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 966, 972, 143 P.3d 463, 467 (2006). Thus, the use of the word "GUILTY" upon a photo of a defendant can be an appropriate method of arguing to the jury, at closing, that the State has met its burden and overcome the presumption of innocence.

Further, the use of the word guilty during closing, whether verbally or visually, is not the equivalent of stating a personal belief in Appellant's guilt. During her closing, the prosecutor summarized the evidence of Appellant's guilt, emphasizing that Appellant's actions after the crime strongly indicated consciousness of guilt. 5 AA 1221-1225. The prosecutor emphasized that Appellant's statement to his girlfriend, "it's all bad" indicated his consciousness of guilt. 5 AA 1224-25. This statement was previously admitted at trial through Archer's testimony. 4 AA 868. This phrase "it's all bad" is also superimposed on Appellant's photo, more prominently than the word "guilty." 7 AA 1573. The photo is essentially a visual depiction of the prosecutor's argument that Appellant's statement "it's all bad" indicated his consciousness of guilt. This is a permissible argument and therefore the photo did not violate Appellant's right to a fair trial or undermine the presumption of innocence.

25

Appellant's brief cites the non-binding case <u>In re Glasmann</u>, 175 Wash.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673, 676, 678–79 (2012) in which the court held the State's PowerPoint presentation containing the defendant's booking photo along with the word "GUILTY" superimposed on the photo three different times deprived the defendant of a fair trial. One of the reasons the photo was held to be prejudicial was that the defendant's face in the photo was "battered" and the defendant appeared "unkempt and bloody." <u>Id.</u> at 676, 678. Here, the photo of Appellant was not inherently prejudicial, as Appellant appears to be wearing a collared shirt and does not appear unkempt. 7 AA 1573. Additionally, unlike the photo in <u>Glasmann</u>, the word "GUILTY" is displayed only once on the photo, underneath Appellant's previously admitted statement "it's all bad." 7 AA 1573.

B. The Prosecution Did Not Express Personal Belief in Appellant's Guilt

Appellant incorrectly claims the prosecution expressed an opinion regarding Appellant's guilt when discussing ownership of the cell phone linked to the crime. This issue was also not preserved for appellate review because Appellant's counsel did not object to prosecutorial statements on this basis at trial. Regardless, this claim has no merit.

It is true that prosecutors are not permitted to express their personal beliefs to the jury. <u>Collier v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 473, 480, 705 P.2d 1126, 1130 (1985). However "[s]tatements by the prosecutor, in argument, indicative of his opinion, belief, or

knowledge as to the guilt of the accused, *when made as a deduction or conclusion* from the evidence introduced in the trial, are permissible and unobjectionable. <u>Domingues v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 683, 696, 917 P.2d 1364, 1373 (1996) (emphasis added) (*citing* <u>Collins v. State</u>, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)).

Here, the prosecutor stated "[t]he defense suggests that it's not his phone or that someone else was using it, I would submit to you because the person using that phone is guilty of the crimes charged in this case." 5 AA 1217. This statement followed the prosecutor's review of the text messages between the cellular phone recovered from Appellant and the victim's cellular phone. 5 AA 1214-16. The prosecutor was stating that the evidence previously introduced showed that the cellular phone was clearly linked to the shooting of the victim. This is permissible under <u>Domingues</u> and <u>Collins</u>. 917 P.2d at 1373; 488 P.2d at 545. The prosecutor's statement was not a personal belief; it was a conclusion from the evidence and therefore did not violate Appellant's right to a fair trial.

Appellant also claims the prosecutor's statement "I submit to you that there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed [the victim]" was an improper opinion as to Appellant's guilt. 6 AA 1272. This statement did not refer directly to guilt. Like the statement above, this statement also followed a summation of evidence. The prosecutor discussed the eyewitness description and Archer's testimony about Appellant's actions after the crime. 6 AA

1271-72. This is permissible for the reasons explained above and did not violate Appellant's right to a fair trial.

C. The Prosecution Did Not Comment On Appellant's Decision Not to Testify

Appellant incorrectly claims that one of the prosecutor's commented on Appellant's failure to testify, thereby violating Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights. At trial, at the conclusion of the State's rebuttal arguments, Appellant's counsel made a motion for a mistrial, claiming the prosecution had made statements indicating Appellant had failed to rebut certain evidence or accusations. 6 AA 1273-74. The district court denied the motion for mistrial, stating the prosecution did not make statements commenting on the defendant's silence, or shifting a burden of proof onto the defense. 6 AA 1275-76. On March 8, 2013, Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial, claiming therein that the prosecution had made improper comment upon Appellant's decision not to testify. 6 AA 1482-87. In the motion, Appellant incorrectly paraphrased the prosecution's statement, stating that the prosecutor said "there is one person who was there that we haven't heard from." 6 AA 1483. On March 18, 2013, the State filed an Opposition to Appellant's motion for a new trial. 6 AA 1488-92. On January 27, 2014, the district court held a hearing on Appellant's motion for a new trial. 6 AA 1493-1500. At that hearing the court denied Appellant's motion, stating that the prosecutor was commenting on the evidence presented, and

not shifting the burden of proof to the defense or suggesting that Appellant was hiding something by not testifying. 6 AA 1499.

It is true that the Fifth Amendment requires the State to refrain from directly commenting on the defendant's decision not to testify. <u>Griffin v. California</u>, 380 U.S. 609, 615 (1965); <u>Harkness v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 800, 803, 820 P.2d 759, 761 (1991). If a prosecutor's comment indirectly references the defendant's decision not to testify, this may violate the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights if the comment "was manifestly intended to be or was of such a character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be comment on the defendant's failure to testify." <u>Bridges v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 752, 763-64, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008-09 (2000) (quoting <u>Harkness</u>, 820 P.2d at 761) (quoting <u>United States v. Lyon</u>, 397 F.2d 505, 509 (7th Cir.1968)).

Further, "[t]he context of the prosecutor's comment must be taken into account in determining whether a defendant should be afforded relief." <u>Bridges</u>, 6 P.3d at 1009. "[A] criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone..." <u>Knight v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 140, 144-45, 993 P.2d 67, 71 (2000) (quoting <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11 (1985)).

The prosecutor did not comment on Appellant's choice not to testify in the instant case. A prosecutor may "comment upon the testimony and to ask the jury to draw inferences from the evidence, and has the right to state fully his views as to what the evidence shows." <u>State v. Green</u>, 81 Nev. 173, 176, 400 P.2d 766, 767 (1965). Here, the prosecutor stated "[t]here has to be a rational explanation for the evidence...I challenge you to come up with a reasonable explanation of the truth if it does not involve the guilt of Donald Lee Taylor." 6 AA 1272. The prosecutor was commenting on the evidence, and expressing a view that the evidence showed Appellant was guilty. This was not a comment on Appellant's decision not to testify.

The prosecutor did not comment on Appellant's choice not to testify when he stated to the jury "I submit to you that there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed [the victim]. And I submit to you if you're doing your duty and you're doing your job, you'll go back in that room and you'll come back here and you'll tell that person you know, too." 6 AA 1272. In <u>Harkness</u>, a case on which Appellant relies, the prosecutor's comment was improper because he said "whose fault is it if we don't know the facts of the case?" <u>Harkness</u>, 820 P.2d at 760. Unlike the facts in <u>Harkness</u>, here the prosecutor did not imply that there were gaps in the evidence due to Appellant's decision not to testify. To the contrary, the prosecutor was saying the evidence strongly indicated Appellant's involvement in the crime.

D. If Error Occurred Through the Prosecution's Statements or PowerPoint Presentation, then the Error was Harmless or Was Not Plain Error

As explained above, there was no objection to the PowerPoint slide at trial, and therefore the plain error standard is applied. The existence of plain error requires a showing of actual prejudice that adversely affects the defendant's substantial rights. Green, 80 P.3d at 95. Here, as explained previously, use of the PowerPoint slide during the prosecutor's closing argument did not violate Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights. If use of the PowerPoint was error (a point the State does not concede), then it was not plain error. Appellant has not demonstrated how the PowerPoint adversely affected him at trial. The PowerPoint slide was a verbal depiction of the prosecutor's argument that Appellant had demonstrated consciousness of guilt and that the State had presented sufficient evidence to meet its burden of proving Appellant guilty. The prosecution would have been able to make essentially the same argument even without the PowerPoint slide. Therefore, the use of the PowerPoint slide was not plain error.

Similarly, regarding Appellant's claim that the prosecution improperly expressed personal beliefs as to Appellant's guilt, this issue has also not been preserved for appeal. While Appellant's counsel objected to statements he claimed were comments on Appellant's decision not to testify, no objection was made at trial, or in the motion for a new trial, on the basis that the prosecution expressed personal belief in Appellant's guilt. Thus, this claim has not been preserved and receives plain error review under the standard expressed above. As discussed above, the statement "the person using that phone is guilty of the crimes charged in this case" followed a summary of the highly incriminating cell phone evidence in this case. 5 AA 1217. Appellant has not demonstrated how this statement was more prejudicial than the actual evidence against him. Further, the statement "I submit to you that there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed [the victim]" was also not plain error. 6 AA 1272. This followed a discussion of incriminating eyewitness evidence and evidence related to consciousness of guilt. 6 AA 1271-72. This statement did not adversely affect the defendant, as it was a summary statement following incriminating evidence. Therefore, these statements did not amount to plain error.

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